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2682 vierra way,
San Bernardinp, Calif,
;/‘f 1L ANy 2 é/ /‘/']’ L3

Dear Linnie:
It is good to lay aside the formality we both

used for so long, I hardly know why, It seems to me I'v

known you for & long time. but it has been mostly thrygugh

your good letters to me and I did'nt know how you feltl

about it, Your letters are fine and like a visit

with you, almost, I have two of them to answer now, with

their questions, I received the first one February first

or theregbout but it was a case of "The Itermeal Hvents

pile up", I guess,for so many little things combined to

keep me from writing, No use to take up space in what is

going to be a very long letter in telling you all the

"events" but the most importent one was that during

the heevy rains we have had several times this month my

roof developed LEAKS where there had never before been
AV

even a hint of leaks%fand coming during the night it

meant I had to get up and move things out of drips, and

tho I wore & warm robe I had amj attack of pleurisy as

& result of my wet night and of moving things too

heavy for me, That meant resting all day for several

weys with an electrié Pad, and no letter writing,

But it has not been all time lost for I have been

going back into the past and living over the auld

lang syne as much as I can in order to snswer as

meny of your questions that go away bakk in Papa's

life as I can, end by reading Dr, Bade's book over
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I found several of Papa's letters there that filled in

spaces I could not be sure of alone, and they also confisrm™

dates of h@@pises heappenings for me, so I can now
ansvwer some of the questions better than al the time
I first received your letters, I have lain awake many
nights trying to remember things you have asked me, it
seems my mind is better able to cope with them then
snd wnen I get started I keep trying to think of more
ti1ll I am three or four years old and living in the
cottage in Alhembre valley with my dear mother and
father again, and Wande is a little girl playing with
me in the o0lé gardep.Some scenes are very vivid and
clear, and if you werée here in the room with me I think
I could give you qbretty clear picture of our home life
on "the upper rench" as the original home place(where
the Hannas have been living) was always called after
Grandpa Strentzel passed away and we movedto the big
house he had built dan the knoll, the place that later
was mine until I had to move to the desert and which
Pagpe always seemed to hope I might sometime come back
to, But I will do my best to write instead of takk to
you, tho I have wished so meny,MANY times you could be
here so when a question came up we could talk &£ it o#er
;nstead of writing letters,

Now before I start teking the questioms, I'm
going to answer the rest of your two 1lftters,
First of all, I was so very glad to get your letter of
Jan,28th, with the little spray of Libocedrus in it, I
had been afraid you were ill, Your last car

d iv
/rgcelved
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sometime before the holidays spoke of & hard cold and a

cough that held on end when there was such a long silenchA“; QJ

I was afraid for you, So it was good to get your letter, \% (LS e

and the spicy bit of green was thoughtful and dear of

you, of course it brought up hords of memories,&7?"4**»"M &

I'm sorry to know you are still troubled with the head-

aches, I'm afraid you are trying to hurry too much,
Whet if it is'nt brought out this spring? It is much
more important that you conserve your strength and your
health, and the book comes out next fall or next

year, Being with Pape when he was trying 1o get a book
or & troublesome article finished I understand so well
what you are going through, and in looking back it
seems to me Publishers are ALWAYS in a hurry, It is
cruel in many cases, Your Mr, Knopf must be much more
understanding and patient then most of them are, And I
am glad he is, But please do think of yourself and don't

get too worn out,

{f I am so glad you were able to see the John Muir
1 %M slip down to the water, I wish I could have been there
§\ with all my femily, to wish her luck and to "come safely
1 ﬁ{_ ~ home" someday., I am so happy about it, have been thrill-

ed ever since you told me there was té@ be a ship bearing

Papa's name, and I know he would haww been proud and

- ol a9 ) A, /B
A ) ) 7 ) A 4 SAE T L - / R ik ~
élad He loved the se Aol 64 booy Lathey ¢ / 1y Ltbd ol f‘, N y //}/
3 . 4 7 : [ 5 . )
) A ) = e /L r',' \ s 4
//'/i«ov,() } At f(A// <27 /\ I YUA ag)//) e S Bp—tat S 2\ \ i (:;/ P
_ P A / ~ L
. ;/ Ot L / Y -2 Al DNty AT Ll 1
[ /
f ) et} 3 4 -/
AL patASLA 1/{/,/, NP M oA t ) A ) cod % A
% { / Y ;
aYa J At 77D o At RS t / Tl CA A A 1%
) \ 4 :
1\81\/{ 2 QeAANE :,,/ /(7,61\“‘ e el / v{!{ Q Lipes / a / ¢ e // g / S Al o /: ;z/‘
, I 169 1 (/ // > </ S 4 /4
TR o A, At No . dlre &4 o 4 ]
e = Of g, Smm f/(*/"u(-., k] /a/’nm
| L A e / i / \ 2 QL1
_/:\'z/ a4 /0 LA // g Lt u}.‘//\- Lo Atri /) ’ I A ). 5 = »“/ N e
/ iy 55 S Al KL Olp-ER 7/14 ( AS L0
4 . ( ' > . = (7 A SR
{ t / /1 w0 )Y = 7 Vi y N :
LA /7 i .f:: /C() L o KD //J ol e o ) /{’!,ﬂ L] oA »,\‘ Qg :

09250




\ {/'r'{l \i/ '

391

Y her in San Francisco for Wanda, RElfie

__Dogsy
, Blfie was a tiny Black and Tan dog. That was the neme of
W the breed tho one never hears of theménowadays. Pape got

she was so 1little, "a little E1f", we'’called her, We had

~her early in the 90s, about I89P, I think,0f course we

all liked Elfie, but there never was any deep affection
felt toward her as with most of our dogs, for she was a
8illy little thing, not burdened with intelligence, and
used to bark as violently at any of the family returning
home as she did at slreangers, Perhaps her eyesight was
poor, I don't know, When she had puppies she was not a
good mother, we had to watch that she did not neglect
them, A mother cat we had at the time used to cuddle
Elfie's pupdép#es and lick them along with her kittens
and a little orphan chick, all of them black, but Elfie
could'nt be bothered with maternal duties, I dont
remember how long we had her nor her finish, The fate
of a weak character,

The little rough brown dog,
I dont remember his name as Pape had him before my time
or while I was a baby, for I never saw him but remember
Papa telling about him, what a brave, gallant little
soul he was, Papa never forgot that little dog, I guess
he was as differengﬁ'frdm Elfie as day and night,
an QS TP
My Stickeen, ' UA”“‘ {7 :
He was a fine Collie dog, given to meaby a family friend
named Elliot, who had a ranch in Franklin Canyon and
raised fine Collie dogs,The name Stickeen was given him
because it seemed a nice thing to hand it on to another
dog.of our's, but we never called him the full neme in
every day life, it was tpo hard to call, so Stickeen was
shortened down to Keeni7§nd we always called him that,
He was a wonderful dog, /(truly noble, brave and true,
My heart aches whenever I think of the sorrow I had to
brigg into his life, For he was my dog and as loyal to
me as the Boston I have now, and I got sick and had to
leave him, first in T905 when I went to Arizona for a

year, and later after being home a year, (X906 to I907) Auﬂ'

I had to leave him again and now he was growing old,

and I doubt if he was ever really happy again, For tho
he was sent to Daggett with my saddle horse in the
spring of I908, and of course was glad to be with me
agein, everything there was so differnt from his old
home where he had spent his entire life, he could not
adjust himself, He was now I3 years old, His dear little
heart seemed broken andFe merely drifted alomg scarcely
careing vhat happened tiill the swmmer heat came on, gnd

then one day he simply went off somewhere and died, M-t

"Tawny’ wes the little dog Paps had in his overcoat
pocket when he told me to put my hand in and find
"something 'for me, He was a tawny-gray Scotch terrier,

a grand, loyal little dog and very much loved by all
the family but especially by me, I should have listed
him ahead of Keenie, as we had him after Blfie and just
before Keenie, who came to us about I895, So I must

09250

was S0 nameé@ becauss

t o e

)
"; % //; ¢ C"'ﬂcﬁ){

&
/bé _ Nie-.

7
97

divihabicn

/s
L/
7
o ~/ P n.a’aa'l L
/)



,\J

P Nig =S o i LIk 0008 A 4 A, A Lo y
arr 1AL z) /] arvug, 7 /<“ ¢ 1Y ”"”H éf/ St AU ',} R L aug.,g /(,“f{;',{c 2l it

( ($7)” 4 J _
have had Twway in 94, He had & shozrt life, poor l}ttle
dog, about two years or less, He was hit over @he‘bgck
with a heavy stick by a miserable Jap worker hired by
the man who had rented our ranch that year, and the poor
little fellow never recovered, His spine was hurt, so

=

he had &0 drag his hind legs, and soon died,

There were other dogs before tihese, but Teany and
Keenie were the outstanding ones in my life, Papa
wos very fond of Keenle and did his best to coufort
him when I was away, and spoke of him in many of his
letters to me, He saild that Keenie stayed for awhile
after I left for Daggett, at Wanda's, even after Papa
returned from getting me settled, but later returned
to the house on the hill {0 be near Papa and in 8-
his o0ld home surroundings till he wasﬂiken in the box
car with my horse to Daggett, :

Answers to other questions,

Keith's pranks,
I have racked my brains to remember something to tell

©> you of the fun Papa and Mr Keith had, and I can only

recall the change of date of Papa's birth which you
already know about, But I can add that this prank made
my mother very angry, the only time I ever knew her to

be angry with lr Keith, I domt think Papa cared one way
or anthher, I do remember them often laughing and cuttin
up and there was always fun when Mr Keith was there,

but I cannot recall any particular prank, No, I cant
remember the violin playing, As I think I told you in
that long effort mailed last fall, Mr Keith had a

lovely baratone voice and always sang for us, Mrs Keith
at the phemo, "The Spinning-wheel Song" was funny and he
sang it just for me, but I cant recall anything more %
about it, Annie Laurie was a favorite with all of us, 3
Remember I was a very little girl then, In later years fi
whin Mr Keith came to the house to visit there was less |
nonsense, but on that trip to the Grand Canyon-and the
Petrified Forests with Papa, Dr Taylor, Wanda and I, he
was full of pranks on the Pullman, silly to tell perhaps
but they kept us all laughing, even the young Pullman
Conductor, If "Johnny" had an orange or an apple and
did'nt keep his eye on it, "willie" had it, and so on

and on, little silly jokes but there never was a more
care-free jolly outing, But Mr Keith sobered quickly

as soon as we got to the Canyon, Near Grandview Point

he would sit for hours with his feet dangling over a
rock, just looking, When he came in to the hotel and
Joined the rest of us in the evening he would look at
Pepe and shake his head saying "It's TOO BIG, T cant do
it, it's TOO BIG", and I believe he later had very

little to show for his trip, on canvas, I mean,

On the Pullman returning from the Petrified Forest we
were the only passengers between Adamana and Williams

and we had the same Pullman Conductor, so as soon as we
were settled in the train the fun went on, Here Dr Tayloar)
sonn%% was compeddd at the far end of the car where he

Saught peace and qui .
NikuiiSul & 4q eF3 then read to a1y of us,
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few minutes Mr Keith also saught seclus;on at the far VA
end of the car, every little while looking up and C&tCh'J,~¢,AJ{J N\
ing some one's eye and looking extremely wise, Al length;g;;& 7 .

e read us his “Mimortal® Lizard poem, It was a great
success and entirely eclipsed Dr Taylor's sonnet for a

b
-~
2ot

while, ( I am glad you found my copy of it, tho I was ., 2
ready and glad to give you another,) Neg, Lf~hao o Lt R
) 3
~ 1 3
Dances, TR
I can remember only one neighborhood dance Papa took me Ji N
t0{ It was at the Eliot ranch} a neighborhood gebtogether nggﬁ
“and the dance floor wzs built out under some great old éw;'j

shade trees, It was in the late summer of I906, soon
after I returned from my year at Adamana, Papa seldom
attended such affairs but for some reason He decided to \
go, He stood back and talked with the older people Whil&‘}i N R
I danced and talked with friends I had not seen for over ) TN s
a year, No, Papa never danced, He had no objection to
Wande and I learning to dance, and Mama engaged a girl
dence teacher to come to our home and we (Wendasand I) _
leardédin the Big parlor to dance the two step and wallz¢
and polka, Later while Wanda was at the University at
“Berkeley She took me down for dances at the GammaPhi
house, or would send for me and I would go to Berkeley
alone, Neither Pape /or lMama approved of us going to the
public dances in Martinez, We never went to any evening
entertainment there,

Papa often danced a jig for us when we were little girls 9
and he showed us how the Highland fling was danced tho §
I dont imagine he showed ua all it's steps, just the

general idéa, He also imitated the Highlander's bagpipes.
very well too, as I realized many years later when I 3 ?
heard the real omes, p , )~ ) 0Pl 0, Wiy W€ NN O

Fotea... UL AD (R4 g Lot by W L

The walks in the hills are among my happiest childhood
memories, but I hardly think the word "hilarious" best
describes them,That word in my mind recalls noise or :
boisterousness and there was never any thing like A
that around Pppa, He often laughed heartily [but NEVHER :
loudly, So while our walks were always happXy and often =1
gay times they were never noisy ones, In the spring we X
had the wild flowers to enjoy and study too, for lessons . J/r..

in botony were part of the walks, We -Chose our walks ) v
according to the plants we wanted to see, for some hill -
sides were blue with brodeas or larkspur, some rocky by
slope was gay with red Indian Paint Brushes, some open Q
glade was knee-deep in Buttercups, And we knew cool, P
demp dells under the Laurels where lMaidenhair Fern <

. grew beside a little spring, We loved them all, And the e

Buckeye balls that. were just starting a baby tree, two 2
or three inches nigh, from their brown shells, acorns o
that had lain in the damp leaf mold till life was stire— N
ing within them - what interesting lessons these were s
for gpwowing children, Our dog always went with us and =
enjoyed the walks as much as we did, How Eﬁey ran Ne
through the woods chasing tr e : e I

» Chaslng the squirlfinto their hoie N

S,

o9

N
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gsometimes stirring up a cottontail or a bob cat., Some
of the Latin nemes of the plants are still in my poor old,
head, but many are forgotten unless I read of them and
then they are familiar again, Papa had a perfet memory
and expected me to remember all I learned in those young
years, I wish I could,

Other lessons,

T dont know if Waenda has told you of our other studies

or if you are interested. In case you are, both Wanda

end I from the time we could read, were given daily

lessons to commit to memory, First such easy poeums as
Shelly's "Cloud", Scott's Lady of the Loke, or rather
selections from the latter, Tennyson's Claribel,Lillian,

The Owl,The Lady of ohmlott parts of Locksley Hall,

Later beleCulons from onakespeare s plays, and selectloHS,,ﬂ
from the Bible, many of the Psalms, and poems of Keats, 1ultn
and Longfellow and Burns, His belief was that these
beautiful words learned at an early age were literally
stored in our minds, to be drawn on and enjoyed all

through 1ife, (Turn to page 30 in volk,I of 'Dr Bade's

Life and lLetters for Papa's own words in regard to

these lessons),

Weither Wanda nor I attended public school till we went

to High 8chool, Wanda attended Miss Head's School in
Berkeley and then went on to the University,There was

no High School in or'near Martinez untill I902, and I
entered it that fall at it's begining, As I was then

16 years old I felt I must hurry so tried to cover the

four year course in two years, There were no school

buses in those days and I usuaelly rode the two miles

on horseback, sometimes in a buggy. My health broke

and that was the begining of the years of poor health

that worried my mother and father the rest of their

lives, Yore of this later with another question,

Our first real schooling begam when Miss Katherine
Graydon ceme to our home and taught us, just how long

I dont remember but it must have been from IZ9T to

'92 or part of '93, She was & teacher and we had regular
school books in use at that time, For more about Miss
Graydon I again refer you to the Life and Letters, vol,

2, page 126, After Miss Graydon left us we had another
teacher, NMiss Hdith ?laisdell, She lived in Martinesz

but part of the time she boarded with us, returning home
weekends, and part of the time riding back and forth

on her saddle pomgy so she could help her mother evenings .
at home, I think she booxlﬂﬁ up” to the sixth or seventh 4ﬁe
greade, ﬂieu she had to leave us on aw ount of death in_# ‘% %
her fwmlly and the care of an invelid brother, Wanda 5 oy
gave me dally spelling, reading, History, etc for about

a year, Of course English was easy as I knew by heart so
meny things from the bnest writers, and I read in all il
my spare evening time, The Memorized lessons recited \ﬂf]"
at Papa's arm chair continued till I was fifteen After g;,
that I choee selections from the Poets mysel &nd ““l;H~
learned them, Some of it has been with me during long ﬁ”v
illnesses and tryin¢ times, but alas,so much did not /
stay stored, Again I rebret my faulty memory, Though

nucn (]
can be blamed on the fact that for so meny of e
E e Iy
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Va,

young years after leaving rtinez I lived among people
who neither knew or cared about good reading or works
of the Poets,7or nature study or any of the things I
used to be interested in, so until I met Buel I had no
one to really talk to, and then after our family came
we were too busy with eV@IJde affairs to have time to
read or study as we used to do Lobetner Buel did go
on with his bbudj of geology and mining while I was busy
with babies, and this study was to reward him well in
) later years, when the depression drove him from business
Y in Los Angeles back to the desert and to mining and
} milling gold ore in the hills above Amboy,fﬁﬂ@'ﬁne boys
N now grown rore with us there
N that they we , 1ittle later
J\ —minie and m1lD and meke the money
' on our feet after Van Dyke and
as far as
erned, The
wiped the desert slate }lg o, .
efield from memory, quAIAur% y 1t
little allbl,Ax:Qi T S nor "‘Lf»'

able to carry on with the
that put us all back
his son had ruined us

IS}

o

ared us completely and

three older boys cle

4

in to give my nind a

Prayers,

and learned enough with him

the ranch and water supply at Deggett was cons- .

This is getting pretty far <

Y,

)
Pa

Pape had both Wanda and I learn the Lord's Prayer, but hr?

did not teach us to pray., Our mother did however and I am

sure Papa approved tho I cannot remember anything in
perticular said about it, Mame taught us the little
children's prayer "Now I lay me down to sleep"etc,
I know I then added my own personal requests before
saying amen, Whenever Papa was away on one of his trips
Mama would come to my bedside after I was settled in
bed and whisper"Pray that God watches over dear Papa
and brings hlm safely home to us" ol S

77a
Y/ ‘,_'/‘

402

and

L Trm L. Lt
A Dersonal God

This is a hard question to enswer{ I am not sure how
Papa felt about this, We never discussed it, but I
feel in my own mind his conseption of God was as a
universal Power or Force governing the Unlverse,'ﬁhe
laws of nature were only another way of saying the
laws of God, or something very like that I once heaxd
him tell some writer who had been questioning him,

This of course was during his later years, for I am
sure he had very different views toward God in his
younger days, But it seems to me he must have felt
his God in the mountains, glacers, forests, all the
out of doors he loved, for surely he worshiped them
and through them he worshiped all Nature, God's works,
Of course I am putting this very badly, but perhaps

it is something of what you think he felt so you will
understand what I am trying to say, Since Papa is

gone I have wished so many times I had talked about
just how he felt about things like this, esp601ally
what his congeption of our hereafter was, and since I
feel so strongly as I grow older . that our‘"Heaven"
should be & returning to earth’t‘” 0 'the /things left
undone before and to redeem our ‘past mistekes, each
successive lifetime leaving fewer mistekes, fewer

09250
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regrets) Thls probubly sounds very fdntastlc to you, & dAf/«/“‘A

(L A A AnL_Q : 7 ) ghoe
considering Lhéubrésent state of the world' gs also Anxmagx-yif”
hopeless, but just the same I cant help wonldering if .t KU
perhaps Pape did'nt have some such idea instead of the . Jis..7,
orthodox Heaven of the goldem streets and the everlasi- , -7 .
ing harp pleying, I do know that he once wrote to some ylﬂyg/ ;
one szbout life being far too short to do all the things alworyo a
he wented to do and outlined his idea of how he wished ./ 4“L
time on earth might be spent ( I have just looked it up mavgath tted
in Life and Letters, it is in a letter to Mrs, Carr, inj/ 2 9. 4,

/\AA (4 ®

vol, I,page I40,)"Could we but live & MILLION of years,ﬁ/’j_?{ﬁ;w

then how dellghtfhl to spend in perfect contentment so‘étﬁ=”(‘(\;,

many thousand years in quiet study in college,so many /U,C. Vi
amid the grateful din of machines,etc,) This wes written ”fL“'ff‘t,
when he was very young, of course, vut T think as he Al K

grew older he must have formed definate idees of nhis own )puv 7, e
of a hereafter4%s I look back and wish I had asked Paps '
things that now must go unanswered, I realize that if I ,?4
could have been with him longer than that last good Ny
year ( Aug, I906 - Dec, I907 Jwhen we were closer than
ever before, we no doubt would have had talks that would
have been priceless, that would have been an endless
comfort for me to remember, The fact that that last year < Kote.
was precious to him also has been of comfort to me in my Meoriig O
regretful remembering of how little time I was able to “»Qva:JJQﬁ; 0
give him after I left the old home on the hill, In answem”/’”’”“” Lol
to & letter of mine in which I made some Worrylng gommeny jooo-sn e
about the house, I cant remember what, he replied "Never ﬂ“” /“W”Q”“’
mind the house,someone will buy it or I will myself, Any Mu/ﬂ(,;;
how we have h@d one good year of enjoyment out of 1it, A
which is pretty fortunate in this "Vale of tears" and N
gsonsin law (T.R.H., I was not yet married then)and it ot D
will always be more and more beautiful while we own it", Eads Wl

You will remember in so amny of his letters Papa spokev*ﬁwuwﬁ»‘g:ﬂ
of caring gor the place, having the old Chinaman clean <o Aull

the vacant rooms, keep the garden and grounds free of v

weeds, and of his pride in the roses etc, and with this*

always a wistfull thread of longing that I might return f . 1,

to enjoy it with him and sppreciate his care of the AW
roses and trees I had so loved before I had to leave, -/ ° /' [/

In rereading all of Papa's letters last year before I ok mdy

S N ;
left South Pasadena and in remembering «lemost forgotten ﬂ.;‘ /“"v
conversations it finally came clear to me on what his  “/ln vecled
hopes were grounded, It was that the babies and Buel and <cl/ tJ;MVF

I spend our summers there with him in the old home, Buel /oga( y
to care for the ranch, and all of us to get away from Wl d @y,

the desert heat, I flnu in his letters over and over vy,
some worry sbout the babies suffering from the heat even i Ll e
if T didnt mind it, But Buel had no experience with a Andaiy )y
fruit ranch or fruit odlULlﬂ . He did make several AT w7
1 e alpns

trips to Wartinez to attend to some business matter g\.%g”
that Papa wanted him to do for him so he could go on (W LY % m/%

/

with his writing or fight for Hetch Hetchy, But heiwanted Ch. Ly

to get into something of his own, and rea 1121nb T ’ U;Q zV
could'nt make Martinesz my year round home at that time woyn, , "
we both thought it best to buy a home of our own in the ., ,,' ™ “AHru
south somgwhere We chose Hollywood and moved from the _ il
Daggett ranch when my first boy(now Wayne, ) was about 0, f*')fw~/
72x monthLold It was a lovely new bungalow and I 2/:5 gle;
\’uq"./l/y"l 11842 ///) //‘,_,(,7",7’.‘_( r A' .
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had hopes that Papa would come and stay with us there, ac
T had & room for him and a-nother room where he could
write, and Mrs Thompson , who hesé—defie 'his typing while

he was at Hooker's, could come daily to help him , He di \3j
come later on and do some work there, a couple of times, A
but it was so hard for him to bring the many notebooks \
and other things he needed, and he constantly worried .
that his being there made me more work, The damp climate ]
was not agreeing with me and he of course worried, When 2
N

we finally decided to move back to the desert on account
of my health Papa realized he should not worry SO about
the heat for me, but he feared it would be hard on the
babies while tHeething, so the old hppe returned that I
bring them to the old home for awhile each summer, vizet
whether Buel could leave or not, But it is hard to leave
home, ( we had bullt a new cottage under great cottonwood
trees on the ranch in 1913)and pack up with two or three
1ittle folks, the youngest a nursing baby, and go with
them to a new climate, and 1t just could'nt be worked
out, Bven after all these years of regret that I could'ny
share my time with Papa a8 he hoped I would after I was
married, I still cannot see how I could have done any
thing but what I did, Stay et home and raise my little
boys and keep our home and help Buel in every way I \ %
could, For there is sO 1ittle time in life - again the P
cry of not enough time -1 was twenty-three when I marriexy o
and the following years were full and sljipped by all too

fast, - : — o/
of Papa's death I can add nothing to what you
know, I was 80 heartbroken at the time T could scarcely
bear Lo hear anything Buel could tell me about it, and
that was very little,fe® Buel was asleep at the hotel,
as death came early in the morning, and the fact that
Pgpa did'nt have any one of us with him at the last
made it all the more unbearable for me and Buel did'nt
dare tell me then that even the nurse was out of the
room, He did tell me that Dr, Cole was not there butb
thet his associate, Dr, Allen, was with Papa at the
lest and that all that could be done for him was done,
Dr. Cole in urging me to send Papa to the hospital
against his will(He did'nt went to leave my house and
we had to meke him go, another heartbreaking thing for
me to have to remember, )told me that Papa could have
help and care there that I could not give him in a
desert home, and that I would never forgive myself if
T did not try to have him have all that could possibly
be done for him in a hospital, And that being exposed
to pneumonia or the upsets of -wwbine routine necessary

to & train trip and hotel rooms in winter , would be <

too bad for little John, sim months old whom I was then
nursing, and he forbade me to go with Papa, for the
baby's sake, Perhaps Doctor thought my going would so
upset the baby I might lose him too, I dont know, and
that if that heppened I would have done no;good for
Papg and would never have forgiven myself for harming
my baby, However; it was, it was a cruel decisioi I
sbould have bean ith Papa if my being there would have
given him comfort as I know it would have had he beén

consci
ous as the last ceme, after all so little to do
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for a father who had given me a lifetime of utter devotme?
and love, But I did what I was told at the time was best
for all, and I now have a dear, loyal son grown to man-
hood who has been a joy and comfort to me all his life,

he who was the little six months old baby that terrible
December, 1914,

As for the pages of manuscript, I dont know
about them either, Someway Dr, Bade understood they were
spread out on Papa's bed when the end came, Perhaps
they were, but he was so very sick before he left my
home it is herd to understand how he could have had
strength to take interest in them when he was dying,

“0f course they may have given him some stimulent that
gave him o -Bmudee folse strength and he no doubt felt
the darknes: drawing neazr and tried to do some last bit
of correcting before night fell, It could well be,
During the first dey Papa was with me at Daggetl and
vefore he fell so ill, he spoke of the manuscript he
hed brought with him, and how thankful he wes that it
was sbout finished, how it had teken him so much longer
to write the book than he had expected, (Travels in
Aleske, )T dont remember any talk of future work, only
now glad he was to be on the desert to rest, how good
the dry air seemed to him, As I told you, we took a
short walk along the edge of an alfalfa field and to
the edge of the desert, perhaps a mile altogether, and
Papa picked several wild plants and told me their names
and remiénded me where he had showed me different varietils
of the same plants in the mountains in Arizona, He was
contented and showed no s#mE@a sign of worry over his
health, It was the next day toward evening that after
sitting before my open fire he got up to go to the
bathroom and suddenly pitched forward sgainst the mantel.
Buel's mother was in the room at the time and she helped
me get him into bed,We called our local doctor and
then also wired to Los Angeles for Dr, George L, Cole
who came on the first train he could get, with & nurse.
The rest I have already told you, as well as part of
this, and there is nothing more I can add,
Wanda reached Los Angeles after Buel wired her , and she
and Buel were on the train with the casket when I joined
them at Barstow and we went back to Martinez, or rather
Muir station., Wenda had Robert with her and I had little
John, Robert was four months old, It rained terribly the
day before the funeral and that seemed so cruel, lMama
had often spoken of how hard it had rained on their
wedding day, but this wes worse, However it did clear
the day of the funeral but was so muddy and wet,
1t is raining hard here in San Bernardino this afternoon
as 1 write, (It is now Warch 3.,)
My illness,

Asm Ytold you somewhere else in this letter (20 I was
working very hard with my studies at high school, study-
ing t1ll midnight and then riding or driving through fog
or rain much of the time to school, I took cold and it
hung on and finally turned into pneumonia, This was in
i%%éear}y pqrf of December, I903, Papa was away on his

trip with Prof, Sergent, Had he been home T doub®



o

7 if he would heve allowed me to study so hard or to go to Ml $
o~ - ¥ school in bad weather, but I was 80 eanxioms to hurry &ar— =Tl h
Y /S through school I over-ruled my dear mother and went omu, o
&5 T cen imegine what a double horror my awful illness must IR S )
T .Y have been to Mama, not only the worry over me she her- ' 3 gg.{h
) ‘ . gelf feltas I lay unconscious three days and the doctor R
: would give her little hope for my recovery, but also R
what she might have to tell Papa, then on the other side i PR
y  of the world from us, But T recovered at last, and when )T A
4 Papa ret@££ed in June I thought I was &as wgll.as ever, e G ﬁi
v That July,Wenda got up a little cemping trip into the ) ‘5 \

. Sierras, e féw of her College friends, with Miss Safford 3N
Y & Gemme Phi house mother, as chaperon, We went to Big R
_Q Tuolumne Meadows, Leke Teneya and finally camped in
. o 8 Yosemite under the Royal Arches to finish our TR0,
Y & jo Before starting on this trip my doctor, a local Martinez
< 7Y man, merely said "Be careful", not explaining how easy
-3 V49 % it would be to hurt my lungs in a high altitude after
LR ' 0 go severe an attack of pneumonia, and so I had no idea
! how careful I should be, Pape worried about me going
but trusted that Miss Safford would looke out for me .
) and he warned Wanda too. Well, we set out and no one in Ca
D Y~ the crowd had the slightest idea why I should'nt climb
. L ©._ mountains and walk the fastest and the farthest each
S dey, ¥iss S% least of &ll, In the first place she wa
SO0 A 3 on utterly selfish women, also a very foolish one, but
,7'fﬁﬁ' N Pape end Mama did not find that out till much later,
NS> o the crowd urged me to race on long hikes, to be the
;;‘§f§j§ first one to reach the sumuit of Mt, Dana, etc, There war
N T an extra saddle horse part of the time, but Miss S,
S a2 must always have it, even after my health began to
TINON break, end it was not till I became really ill and just ¢
able to walk at all that Wanda became alarmed and saw )
that I sometimes rode, and that I took malted milk N\
tabglets between meals, and a drink of whiskey at night : o
when my chest was congested, We finally got back to I &N -
Crocker's station in the sugar pines, (near Carl Ifin) AT
and Wanda end a few others stayed on there a week or i 3
so for me to rest up end get to feeling bettexr before DY
coming home, Helen Swett went on home, and called on e
Papa and Mema to report on our trip, and when she said < = )
I wes staying on to "rest", Papa at once told Mama L
"She has hurt those sick lungs", But=Fwee~eble o -£0 R i
Q~i@‘ﬁ@hﬁ@&FﬁwG@&?&@hﬂﬂﬂmﬁﬂ$hsﬁ%€f@%ewfw%egﬁnh$ﬁﬁfﬁ%§, < §N
Heen stayed at home that winter, just resting and not [ SR ?%
going out except in good weather, The dreaded T.,B was X -
starting it's work, However this rest at home set me )‘: Jeh
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back on my feet and the trouble, just beginning, was
arrésted, so by spring I seemed well again, That May(J
I had severel little outings with Papa, -asndsbrsese=we )
hed the memoreble trip to the Canyon and Petrified —
Forest with Keith, Dr Taylor, and part of the trip
w,  the eastern art st e it
T ﬁﬁiJune, 1904, InsFelry-Wendo~asmii ’
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'ky stay in the desert for awhile, Papa decided Palm Springs-

debig-brimpipone=it g My doctor advised a

1

would be a good place to go first, and later after m%mmﬁ
there we were to go on to Wilcox, Arizona, Through his
friend J,D, Hooker, in L,s Angeles, Papa had a letter to

a,_;‘EH.éwwwwmsmoowmw.q.U..deOﬁSQH.sbowmmmd»momdﬁwm
, © rench twenty miles south of Wilcox, (I have finally
Y thought it all out and I msﬂ certaein William Hooker was
. the "Don Pedro" Papa wrote of as helping us in our great
~ trouble,)For when we arrived at Wilcox there was a

telegram waiting for us from our Martinez doctor saying

_w_;m Vema was seriously ill and for us to return home,It was

decided that Wenda was to return on the next train, and
Papa and I would go out to the ranch .for one day, We
then returned to Martinez, Mema had been in poor health
for years, but was up and ebout tho living quietly and
never going out, But all the troubles she had had for

years finally reached a criséshow, As you have never askod

me anything about my mother's illness I suppose Wanda
must have told you about her, After reaching home my
trouble grew steadily worse, I wos losing weight and
coughing badly, so it was decided to again send me to
a dry climate, As neither Pam Mo& Wanda could leave
Mama to go with me, and some oleyvperson had to go,
Miss Safford was at last reluctantly chosen, This was
e chance for her to see the petrified forests, and a
nice trip, but she charged Papa $I50, and left my tent
set in alow spot that later turmed into a puddle, but
after she was gone I got all straightened out,

That leaveteking from my mother was a terrible thing
for both of us, She knew as well as I that we would
never $ee eachother again, I was her "baby" and I was
going away sick to be among strangers -- and I was
supposed to pretend she would be able to join me in
Arizona later on -- I Jeept managed to go through with
it till I got out of her room and her hearing, And I'm
crying now as I write this to you, A few days later
Papa joined me at Ademana, I saw him coming from the
station and went to meet him, he just took me in his
arms, hmﬁmw:ﬁm took a walk away from the house and he
told meabout7thingg, Still later Wanda came and Papa
returned home to pick up the loose ends in his broken
heme, I not only could not be with him there when he
needed me , but I was soon to cause him additional
worry, For later that sumer, towsrd fall I somehow
got Pneumonie again, Wanda was there, and the attack
was not as terrible as the first ome, but I was sick
enough and I shudder in remembering it, I was in a tent,
my bed on the tent floor andf%liile T was so sick it
seemed I would never be well or comfortable again,

But again to poor Papa's joy I recovered, He came to
Ademane when I was over the worst, Wanda did'nt tell him
at once, and he stayed with me till I was up and around
once more, It was while I was unable to ride or take
trips with him that Papa made his first trip to the
Black Forest and for the first time found the trees
with the markings that gave him his first inkling of
what these trees had been and in what period they had

lived, He came back happy and excited to tell me about
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what he had found, and he had been teaching Jim Donohue
who took him out there, the strange names, Lepedodendron,
Sigillaria, etc, From then on Papa spent every day it wax
rossible to be oup,examining and studying specimens in
the Black or North Forest, He would return to Martinez
to attend to things at home, answer the accumulated
mail, and as soon as he could leave again he returned to
me end his absorbing new interest, his carboniferous
trees, BEven tho snow lay on the ground we rode over to
study the old, old trees, and to both of us they were
far more real as trees than in any of the other more
frequently visited groups, In the spring (I906) all ‘
through the violent spring winds, which blew from three
to seven days in one continuous screech without a lull,
we rode daily to study and learn, It was five miles from
Adamana to the edge of the Bad Lands where the black
wood lay, and ten or twelve to some of the finest groups
of trees and stumps, I can still remember Papa's whiskers
blowing in the wind as he examined with his pocket lens
some especially telling bit of a long, long ago forest,
Somewhere about this time he went to the University
library and looked up the old carboniferous trees, and
the little note book you showed me was the result of his
“studies there, He also wrote with enthusiasm to Underwood
Johnson of the Century Magagﬁne of his new discoveries
and it was arranged for Papa to write an article about
them for the Century, He had fully decided to write a
book about the wonderful regeon too, and he had me take
many pictures for him to use in it, and as I had been
with him through it all, it was to be "my book", the
dedication to me as sharer of his discoveries and study
long days in the wind and sun, In early April we set

up & tent in the Bad Lands, and Jim had a team and light
wagon there to take us all over the forest and save time
coming and going fom Ademana, We spent two weeks there,
An unusuelly hard sand storm came so it was impossible
to do much study,, so Jim went over to Adamana for the
mail, and Papajﬁére in the tent, our blankets around us
and half - burried in drifted sand, he writing up his
notes and I reading, when Jim returned with mail and a
San Francisco newspaper telling of the earthquake and
fire, That was the first we knew of it, A week later we
received a letter from Wanda telling of the damage to
our house, Somehow it seemed very unreal away out there
amung the red buttes, After our camp in the forest Papa
returned to Martinez and set the old Chinaman to cleane
up the fallen plaster and chimney bricks, During this
upset time May and Arthur Colemen offered Papa their
home until our's was repaired and livable again, They
also fffered it to Wanda to be married in and she see.
accepted their offer, her wedding was June 20th, 1906,
But of course she told you this, My health by now

was 80 much improved we began to plan for my return
home, Papa wanted to take me on a side trip with him "

on the way home, so about the end of July we left the jjﬁnﬂ“

stone trees and Adamena cabin, and yes, the Adamans
bed bugs too, and stopped off at Ve=lisms, first hiring

& man with saddle horses ang going to the summit of the
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highest San Francisco peak, and then in a wagon with a
team we went north of Flagstaff through the Painted
Desert and the Navajo reservation to the Little Colorado
and it's canyon where it joins the Grand Canyon, A grand
trip, never to be forgotten, The man who owned the horsie
and light wagon did the very simple cooking, and I was
not allowed to lift a finger with the camp work, I was
sitting in the wagon after supper one evening enjoying
the sunset, and Papa was fixing the beds, and the man

of work washing up our dishes, when a young Navajo rode
quietly into camp and sat his horse while he looked us
over, He kept turning to me with puzzele:d eyes and

frank disaproval because I was idke and the men working,
After o week spent along the rim of the Canyon we came
back to Flagstaff and went on to Williams by train, the
following day going to the Canyon where we spent several
days riding along the rim and thrugh the pine woods,
Then we returned home, Tom and Wands were living in the
back of the old home, but Tom had not yet gotten any
repairing done to chimmneys or walls, and Papa was much
disgusted, as he had wanted things fixed up when I got
home, However he attended to it himself and later had
the lower rooms remodaled, bought drapes and hangings
and new rugs for me, and soon we had a lovely home,

We hired a Jap boy to cook and clean, and I taught him
to enswer the phone and the door bell, That left me free
all morning to be in Papa's study to answer his letters,
and type his menuscripts, After lunch I was to ride
horseback, or go for walks if Papa could be with me,
Thet summer Tallulah Le Conte Blston and Ione Garnett
Rainy, both mgpﬂs the last names then, spent much time-w-
with me, b@@t=of the time when Papa had to be away on
short trips, eand then we head with us an old lady, who
had long been a friend of my mother's, Mrs, Hathaway,

a dear understanding old lady whom we girls all loved,
When Paps was busy with writing I had no company, my
time was all for him, That was our happy year, We were
closer then than ever before, and while my health was
good T was no longer a worry to Papa, I spent some time
planting roses around the grounds and climbers on the
walls, and beds of Shasta daisies on the sunny side of
the old garden, violets in the shade, I was so fond of
violets I could scarcely have enough of them, so Papa
always brought me a bunch fromSan Francisco on his
weekly trips there, Violets and candy, just like a
lover, Happy days gone, but I dont forget them,
 Sometime during this year (I2906 - 7) Papa wrote to some
famous Geologist in Scotland, sending him specimens

of his carboniferous wood, asking him his opinion,

This man whose name I have forgotten, but whose opinion
Pape velued, replied promptly and agreed with all Papa's
findingd, I think Papa also wrote to someone in England
with the same results, but I am not certain of that,

He kept the Scotch Geologist's letler, I wish we could
find it, And those Arizona notebooks, they have caused
me many sleepless nights wondering ebout them, And I
have decided that Pape must have put them in the Bank

in his box where he sometimes kept his most valuble
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notebooks at one time, I just wonder if they have been ;¢?§
overlooked, I think he kept such things in a safty N 3
deposit box in the Bank of Martinez, I cannot see how gl
any of his notebooks would be d¥stroyed or just lost {733 il
when all the others were kept.,And I know he had at least 3 q |
one notebook , a little brown paper covered book just ,Qf§ §'
like the one he copied drawings and notes on Carboniferscs g%k
trees from the library books, which you have, I even J \\§ N
have a picture of him resting in the scanty shade of a ¢ ?;g‘
~ |
)

rock in the Bad Lands at noon and writing up his discov-

e morning., And at home in our cabin at Adamanc
for

]

ories of th :
egch evening he wrote up the days' findings, etc,
these notes were the foundation of the book he planned

AAA
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to write, I simply cannot rest satisfied till they are v V30
found, So unless they are found in the old house where gé ;f§ N
wanda lived I am going to write to the Bank of Martinez ‘“kj : %NQ
and ask them if there is anything of Papa's there, That qX“{j X
it is not impossible for them to be overlooked is borne fb.v°§;i‘$
out by the fact that a small sum of money,$I9,I5,left 199 §\3§
in the Benk of Martinez from an old account of mine ¥‘\§§ﬁgﬁ
when T spent that last yeer there, 1907,was forgotten o NS | S
and lay there, with nothing saild about 1t, till ‘the g *:Qg,f”
summer of I%94I, when someone in the bank asked Wanda e h} | ?&3
where I was, telling her of the money left there all J 3 i 38
those years, It happened Bob and lgry Hanna were coming §Ng\'§ é,
through Los Angeles on their way to Phoenix a few days Q2 3
iater and told me of it, bringing a blank check so I :Q{§j§= %§

could draw it out, The bank, it seemed, had finally tiredﬁy((d
of hoving it there, or finally remembered, or something, . s S
I must now get back to the ending of our heppy Q{
and also finish up my illnesses so0 so,can get ssj

4%f 1907 Papa went on ., '¥

=R O SR e WSRO
I again fell ill<

)

year,
them straight, In the laile I

g trip of two m@l‘;@g—% ’32?. N

Jeedsbly lrom=he-went , dwt Mhile he was away
As autumn drew on I begen to tire easier, lost weight,
and coughed a little, and then first thing T knew a
terriole attack of plemwisgy had me, I tried to keep
going which was a mistake, but fin¢ally when the day cam/. |
T could not lift my saddle on to my horse, I gave up, '
then in a few days was down with my third attack of
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pneumonia, this time bronchial pneumonis with it's quick
choking cough to rack my pleurisy, All this time T )ﬁ K
had hoped to get well before I had to tell Papa about o |
it and before I was stricken down had written T was i NN
feeling better, I had been staying with Wanda in her L S
home, the adobe near the big house on the hill, this | b =
time Papa was away, and when a neighbor who had met | © o N
him at Wartinez brought him into Wanda's yard it was a | I ¥ JL
dreadful esdseed shock to find the doctor's buggy there, lfé §§§3§
T finally pulled through, painfully, with a trained LR
nurse from the city, and when I could creep out into 1> 3 t Y
the sun at last, Pam told me me he felt badly that I ™ g 3N
hed lied to him when I wrote I was better end in reality PAS RS
I told him it was to save him from worry, gw.}ﬁ

was sick then,
as I knew he would end his trip and come hurrying home

if I admitted T felt badly, but promised I would never do
%t again.1After this illness the T,B "bugs" really went
o work, Tho I did nothing but rest after I was able to
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gt g i
go home, with a housekeeper, (the Jap boy had long since N %3“i§f§
deperted,) and a companion from Vartinez, I was sick and <Q§ g--é J
miserable, 'At this time lumps slowly developed on ribs Mk QS 3
on both sides where the pleurisy had been so long, Papa <8 Fgé‘%ﬁ
was distracted and did'nt know what to do, when Mr,Keith b g N
advised Papa’take me to Dr, Herbert Moffitt in San TR Q‘&
Francisco and have Xrays taken, This he did, and after 3 Q@
the dlogn051s of affected spots in both lungs, end a 'ﬁﬁa >

- = w tubercular growth on the ribs, I was told
the best thing T could do was ¥%es spend about two years

’ ;’?’,
&

&0
&

somewhere on the desert, Poor Papa, up to then he just B
could'nt believe I had T B , and even then he would say § IN S
when telling friends about my illness, "She is recover- X '”3% v
ing from pneumonia", or that "she has had pneumonia", I & 7\3¥\
Then came a spell of the heavy winter fog that hung on \§ ’Rgﬂg

for days and I fell worse and worse, so haste must be
made to get me, into a dry climate, Papa knew not where
to take me"WAdeamena was too far away for Papa to be
with me as much as he wished without neglecting his
work which had already been sadly neglected because of
me and my illnesses, So he wrote to Mr, T,P, Lukens,
Helen Gaut's father and an old friend of our's

Mrs,
and asked if he could suggest some spot on the Mojave
desert, near Barstow perhaps, where I could have eggs N N ¥
and milk, and could keep my saddle horse with me, I 3 ] o ©
9
>

have already told you of our arrival at Daggett two
days before Christmas, I907, so will skip it here,
Only let me say again before going on, that in view of
the trouble The Van Dykes later caused us all, and the
utterly contemptable people they proved themselves to
be, I beg youpto mention them in conection with us

in this book as little as poss ible, end to leave out,
whenever quoitlng Papa's letters to me at Daggett

the "regards to the good old Judge" etc, Please,

In the spring of I908 I had the Grippe, and then in
some way, probably through milk from cows that drank
from a sometimes stagnant water pool om the ranch, I
developed a sort of "walking typhoid" as the local
doctor called it, and he advised me to go to a Los
Angeles hospital for care, Buel and I were then engaged,
end he took me to the California Hospital, where I
asked for Dr, George L, Cole and gave him a letter of
introduction from the elder V.D,I had accepted this
because I knew no doctor in Los Angeges, At this time

Papa was with Mr, Harriman in his private car somewhereA;
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in the Imperiel Valley and knew nothing of my sickness ) ¥
as I had not known where to reach him before T left \g'é;ﬁ
Deggeti, But in some way a letter from Arthur Coleman S J I
reached him saying I was sick 1nAgome Los Angeles utﬁfg§bjh\‘
hospital with typhoid fever, Hel%ot '{tVthat I was ill 1 d
from a letter I wrote Wanda, I suppose, and as was hlS<fi§ Glﬁg Py
way,made itjas bad as possible, so when Papa finally giﬁ‘g s
reached Los Angeles, that wes the time he came intozmyﬁaé§ QY
room pale and almest 11l himself, with anxiety, An \%f §€§<
that was the time INr, Harrimen sent his own personal RQQ*
physician to see me, and later when I was much betier J. J/
Mary Harrimen came to see me, and was 8O0 interested in . ﬁ¥f
my horseback riding and free life on the desert, Q5§24; $0
And so that winds up the serious sick spells that \?wiéﬁfgif
Yo o W



were such a worry and distraction to the most devoted
father, deserving of a healthy daughter, if falher ever
was, Of course I was ill many times after that while he
was living, but those I have told of were the ones that
most worried him, I came acros a letter from him written
after receiving one from me in I9I3, soon after we moved
to the town of Daggett from Hollywood, telling him of
a severe burn I had, when T dropped two quarts of boil?gz
pobEbERs Tt gEee- Potato water and mashed potatoes, G? -
yeast)on my foot and suffered a third degree burn, "I
think you must have been born unlucky", he writes, It
is sometimes & compensation to think he did not have
to worry over my later complete break in health and the
present heart trouble and hardened arteries,

I think now I have answered all your questions
probably at much greater length than you expected, but
T have tried to give you details that might help you
know Bppa and the atmosphere of our life, If I have
mentioned enything you want cleerified, lel me know,
T only hope I em not too late with this "volume" of
odds and ends, But as I saifl before, I could'ant have
answered all your questions al the time T received your
letters,

As to that quogtation"The Bternal RBvents pige
up", you must have found that in a letter read at my
home in HWagle Rock that time you copied some of them,
for I did not tell you of it, tho I did speak of his
saying, "The Bternal Unfitness of Things,"and so thought
you might have confused my saying into it, but I feel 4

Aﬁvﬁ%h

A}

o

sure now they are separate lines, and the first came X
out of a letter, I camnot remember where but there is )
an example of my quo téﬁon in a letter in Dr, Bade's
book in which Papa complains of "The eternal unfitness
of civilized things",

You once told me that there was some sort
of scandal about Papa and Mrs Hutchings, What was it
and where did you get the information? I cant believe 2]
there is sny base to it, I know that Papa did not like |
¥r., Hutchings, and can remember hearing him tell Mema /3
how mean and unjust a man he was, but there was never
anything about ¥rs, H, save that she had been friendly _J
and kind to him , In fact he remarks in just about -7~
those words, B}s feelings toward the Hutchings, There
were bound toXunkind things sometimes said of a man
as unusual as Papa was, especially as he did not think
as others did,And there were people who grabbed at
any hint of wrong because there was so little they
could find against him, Like the report the Hetch
Hetchy wanters circulated aboult Pape sawing up the
Yosenite trees, But however it may be I would like to
know how you lesrned of it, And I sincerely hope you
will not use anything you have heard in the book,
for why sully the name of the most morally clean
man I have ever known? And I cant beleiWe it is true,
One reason I have for that belief, beyond the fact he
was S0 morally cleean, is that I think he would have
told me of it if there was any scandal, For as I grew
up he did tell me of advances women had made to hinm

and telked frankly about it
Ly & . And from thgt i
I and thingg
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Mema seaid he told her I feel certain he had no secrets
in his life, Mrs Emily Pelton Wilson loved him, but he
was just a friend to per, a very loyal and life-long
friend, Mrs, Wilson came to visit us when I was about
sixten, and I liked her very much, It was after this
visit that Mama told me of her unhappy love for Papa
and that while "she respected her husband but she did
not love him", I asked then "why did she marry him then?
and Mame replied "because she could'nt have the one she
wanted,"There was no hint of scandal here , merely &
one-sided love, I know of several older women who

were very fond of him, after Mama's death, He told me

4

frankly of these things, At one time Wandsa was much &=
disturbed because she was afraid Papa would marry again, S
He discussed that with me too, Qx

Well here it is March 4th and still raining, "
I began this February 26, In between writing i have oy

had a nice visit from my eldest son, Wayne and his famil?<
He is now working as an airplane mechanic at the Army
¥Erying School at Twenty-Nine Palms, on the desert, and
enjoys his work, I also had Stan and his wife and little
stepson with me over Sunday, My youngest son, Walter 7
who lives here in San Bernardino will soon be able to ot
walk without crutches and return to his work at the grear
Airfield here, He broke his ankle in the joint, while Dy
working at the field, and was in the hospital over g/ e
Christmaes, He is no#w almost well, He and his wife come N
to see me almost every day, The ILEAK in my roof has
been fixed but the way the rains continue I think I am _
going to have to ask my landlord to build an ark for N /Y
Peppy and I, end have it handy, Is it raining up your 9 fv
end of the state too?% VY
In looking over your letters I find a page

I missed, where you ask if it was in the fall of 1904 ~
I climbed ¥t, Brewer? . No, I climbed Mt, Brewer with
the Sierra Club in the swmmer of I902, and the mountain
had nothing to do with any later ill health, But the
"try out" climb of Goat Mountain which the leaders,
Ir, Le Conte, Mr, Colby, and ¥r, Parsons organized to
discourage poor climbers from attempting Wt, Brewer
about a wekklater , was, as one of my doctors thinks,
the start of my heart trouble, for during the fast
climb in high altitude I very much enlarged my heart
and tho it caused me no trouble then my doctor thinks
it was the start of the later trouble, for there seems
to be little doubt that injury is often caused by an
extreme exertion, especially inm a high altitude, The
leaders set such a fast pace that only hardy climbers
could keep up with them, the idea being thereby to
weed out any one who might lag by theﬁay and cause . Q)1
trouble on the more difficult Brewer '¢climb 8o very
soon people began dropping out,Wande among them, but T
was enxious to try and make the swmit, so went on
with the others, It was a terrible strain on lungs and
heart for any one, for we climbed 8000 feet in six
hours, starting at an altitude of about 4000 feet,
Papa was much displeased when he heard about it, he
%%dtﬁg %’q% T @adﬁhgy@ mysglf, but he said the object

% ub outlng was to help and encourage people
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in their mountaineering,not to set a pace they were
unable to keep up with, And that one thousand feet an
hour was fast climbing for a seasoned mountaineer, let

‘alone beginers, as many of the Club members were, on

that outing, And we had been led to climb faster than
one thousand fe t an hour, Papa had not been with us
at the beginning of the outing, as he and Mr Keith had
been with the Hooker party, joining the Club after the
Brewer side trip, After that the crowd began thinning

out , many of the Club members going home, and Papa took,
Wanda and I, Mrs Helen Jonessflirs Gaut)ya friend of Papag

named Blls, into Paradise Cayon for a three day trip.
We had a burrof to carry our bedding and food, and saw
some very wild country, I dont mean it was rough or

difficult to walk in, but it was so full of wild animals

and seemed so untouched by humans, I remember the tall
red tigar lilies along the river where the trail led,

T consbantly felt wild creature's eyes upon me, and the
little burro# felt them too, He kept very close to us
at all times, and during the night came as close as his
rope would let him, Mrs Jones took some nice pid¢tures

of Papa o that trip, among them the one on¢ the granite

boulder, used on the wover of one of the pamphlets on
Kings River, In the meantime the Hooker party had gone
on to Kern Cayyon, and after seeing Wanda and I on the

train at VlS&lld, I think Papa joined them, Ater leaving

Kings Canyon after the Paradise trip he hdg teken us to
the Giant Porest, We had saddle horses and rode all
through the glorious trees, and Papa showed us a camp
of his that he had enjoyed long ago. It all ended too
soon for I had to get to the lowlands and enter High
School, o b

And now it is March 6, I have,company both
yesterdgy and todﬁy, but I am going to get this mailed
tomorrow 1f I have to sit up all night,

And in reading this stuff over it ig rather confusing,
I'm afraid, so if you cant meke out all the trips or
anything else, let me know right aviey and I'll prompily
answer any questions so you wont be chayed ally longer,

I have forgotten whether I ever gave you a
completle description of Papa's ouanQ Once last year
when I was thinking cﬂuULHJ the study I ome=dsy tried to
draw 1t so you would get an idea of 1t, but alas, you
would have known lng then before if I had sent you the
pitiful attempt, However it is glear in my mind so I
could tell you how it was, but I am not sure I have'nt
mlr&de told you, There was one picture taken of
Papa at his desk, (the flat top one he used for Wlelni)
the roll top was used only for pictures specimens, odds

and ends he had picked up on his trips, @nd the drawers
for photographs and note books,) with some of his book
cases in the background, It was taken by a local
photOgrapher abogut I897, I think, Have you ever run
across it? ’

I don't know if thése will interest you or
not, but I happened to think of how Wanda and I used
}oa{%n govg%%thdpa, From the time I could run, I guess,

ays w own the walk from the house to the

09240

Packin

A17<1'Lhz

Mot Tlp Wetnd s

{/f/.

\

)



2I

house at the foot of the hill, when I saw Papa start up
toward the house, This was when I was under five years
living in the house on the "upper ranch", (now Hanna'85
There used to be a concrete walk from the house down
through a long grape arbor to the packing house, Wanda
and T would watch for Papa to start up the walk, then de—
dovn we ran into his arms, After we moved to the big
house on the hill, after Grandpa Strentzel's death, we
always watched for Papa coming in his buggy from town,
and ren as far as the creek bridge , to climb in the
buggy end ride up thne driveway with him, except on wet
rainy nights, of course, when we listened eagerly for
his step on the front porch and threw open the door for
nim, It was on such a night that after I had my kiss,

he told me to put my hand into his overcoalt pocket and
nfind something" -- a little terrier pupp¥, Tawny,

After the Senta Fe was completed through our place,

with Muir station, of course Papa always went to the cit7
op one of the local trains, and then I always walked /
to the station with him and met him in the evening,
Sometimes T met him with the horse and buggy, and dear

- 0ld Keenie sitting up in the seat with me, much intérestsx
in everything, Papa always brought us something, While
Wends was at home it was usually a big box of cendy for
us to share, or cookies or bananas, After she left for
Miss Head's School in Berbelﬁy and later the University,
it wes candy end fruit‘TOfm”Zaha.and I. When finally
there was just me at home he brought tleviolets and
chocolates each week, sometimes a potted flower for my
room, and magazines,But always some gift, with loving
remembrance behind it, And all the while I lived at
Ademeng I had reminders of his thoughtfullness, for
whenever he was at Martinez he sent us from Goldberg,
Bowen's in Sen Francisco, box after box of what he called
nodds and ends", goodies of every sort thal he could
think of that I might like, Canned meats and sardines

and olives and various crackers and cookies and orange
mermalade(from Dundee, Scotland) and dried fruits and
nuts and candy and bar chocolate, Sometimes a bom of
oranges or apples, or fresh pineapples and fresh coconuts,
The food at Adamana was very poor, no veggtables and

very little variety of anything, so these boxes of

n0dds and ends" were a blessing, and he never forgot

to send them, He continued to send them up to the time
Buel and I moved from Daggett to HOllywood, a8 well as

a constant stream of boxes of fruit from the ranch

and from the trees around my old house, Once on a train
he met a brakemen he and I had known while I lived at
Ademane, Pepa and I had once gone on a freight train

from Adamana to Gallup, New Mexico, for a little trip,
and had ridden in the caboose, This brakeman was on .
that trein, and he and the conductor had treated us ot ol
wonderfully, letting us sit up in the -cpmdow(F—oUeS s

that! s how-you-spetb-it)where we had a fine view,

and this brakeman had gone into a refrigerater car

and brought us a dish pen full of perfect bananas,

At Ademenm one hot swmer dey this brekemen, Mr, Pittmen

brought over a great block of ice for the femily I was

A
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boarding with, so we could all have ice cream, Butafter
leaving Arizona we had lost track of him, But now he saw
Popa end told him he had learned where I was living by
having seen a box of fruit addressed to me at Daggett,
in the freight shed at Bakersfield,

Well I guess this is all, I keep thinking of 1littll
things, and of things Papa said, but do not know if you
want them, I realize I have written a lot here that can
only help you by perhaps giving a glimpse of all sides
of Papa's nature, and of our life together, If it is of
eny hédbp, then I am glad, I would appreciate a note or
a card just to let me know that you receive this, for
I notice in writing to Johnny in Utah, that it often
takes a long time for my letters to reach him, and I do
went to know that you get this,

When next you see Jean please tell her I will try
and write to her very soon, I owe letiers to everyone
save my two boys who are away from home, I menage not
to disapoint them, Stan is in Los Angeles so he and I cah
telk on the phone often, and that is a comfort, I have
just heard that he has been deferred for six months as
he is doing important work, building equipment for the
airplane companies, Douglass,and Lockheed -~ Vega, He
was disapointed as he felt he should go, but his wife is
heppy again, I too feel that he is doing his part as
much in this important and necessary work as if he was
in some branch of the service, And of course my mother's
hesrt is thankful,

I hope your poor aching head can have a rest one
of these days. Do take care of yourself,I hope to hear
that you are feeling better, I am so glad you have your
"Kitty for keeps" to comfort you, and T am glad for him
thet he has you, My Peppy has been somewhat upset by all
this typewriting as it has broken up our usual routine,
for usually I lie down on the sofa right after breakfast
and try to spend two thirds of my day and evening there,
So when T started writing for hours at a time Pepdy
had to be close to me like T was on the sofa and he on
my feet, and I fixed an arm chair close beside me with a
pillow and blanket and an old soft sweater of mine he
likes to snuggle into for comfort when I have to go to
the mmil box or store, for him to have, and he was aboul
half satisfied, Tomorrow after this is mailed and I come
home and settle down again on the sofa how ghad he will
be, He is getting o0ld, but I take good care of him, and
he now wears a little blue woat when he first goes, out
on chilly mornings, for I notice his little jointspome=
times creak when he gets up, so he needs warmth,

I wish you could drop in on me sometimes and read
me some of your chapters, like you did the Ritters, T fens
they must have enjoyed it, Haveifound a name for the
bokk yet? I have often thought about it, but no inspir-
ation has come,

And now finally I really am drawing to a
close, Let me hear from you if you cen find time,
With love, your friend

A
I/
/

i Iy
ANLeteo, [/t

09240



R3
Bits of "oddsand ends" that came to me to tell you,dccvoy

Papa taught us from the time we were small children that
all creatures have feelings and troubles and joys just
like people, and that we must always remember that

fact and be considerate of them,

I have often wished ALL children were taught the} as

I see so much needless cruelty toward animals and birds,

He taught us to watch the birds that came to our trees
and garden, to observe their habits and what they ate,
and the kinds of nests they built, whenever possible,

epight Of course he told us the manes of all birds we
saw, and usually why they were so named,

One of niu earilest teachings was to be quiet around
all w1lu creatures if you would reclly get to observe
and know their ways, “t@nu or sit quietly and soon they
go on about their affairs,

He had & keen sense of humor which showed itself in
meny different ways, Whenever he found a Joke he liked
he always shared it with the femily, and especially
with me as he grev older, Among my letuo rs are many
clippings of jokes he wanted me to laugh over with him
and as I was far away he sent tlem to me, The last

vyear at Martinez we had BRRY o laugh over some saying
or word, from some Scotch story he liked, some of them
from that book you have, He would keep bringing them
into our daily life as tﬂey fitted into our little
deily happenings, I still think of them that way, 00250
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